S259522

S _____

**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

=====
RAUL BERROTERAN II,
Petitioner and Respondent,

v.

**THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
LOS ANGELES COUNTY,**
Respondent.

=====
FORD MOTOR COMPANY,
Real Party in Interest.

=====
AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE
CASE No. B296639

=====
PETITION FOR REVIEW

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

*FREDERIC D. COHEN (BAR No. 56755)
LISA PERROCHET (BAR No. 132858)
ALLISON W. MEREDITH (BAR No. 281962)
3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR
BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592
fcohen@horvitzlevy.com
lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com
ameredith@horvitzlevy.com

SANDERS ROBERTS LLP

ISSUE PRESENTED

Counsel attending an opponent's deposition of a witness *aligned with counsel's own client* generally does not cross-examine that witness, because there are seldom advantages to doing so and there are strong strategic reasons not to undermine the witness or telegraph trial strategies during discovery. The question presented here is whether trial courts must nonetheless assume that counsel *did* have a motive to cross-examine friendly witnesses at every deposition, creating a presumption that the deposition testimony may be admitted as *trial testimony* not only in the case in which it was taken, but also in future cases against the same

party under a statutory exception to the hearsay rule that would otherwise bar such testimony.

INTRODUCTION

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case involves an express conflict between two published Court of Appeal opinions concerning the proper interpretation of Evidence Code section 1291 (section 1291). Subdivision (a)(2) of the statute provides that hearsay testimony from one case is admissible as trial testimony in a later case under an exception to the hearsay rule only where the party against whom the testimony is offered “had the right and opportunity to *cross-examine* the declarant [in the earlier proceeding] with an *interest and motive similar to that which he has at the [later] hearing.*” (Emphasis added.)

In *Wahlgren v. Coleco Industries, Inc.* (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 543, 546-547 (*Wahlgren*), the Court of Appeal held that *deposition* testimony of a declarant aligned with the party against whom it is offered usually does not satisfy section 1291’s twin requirements of similar motive and interest to cross-examine the witness. “[A] deposition hearing normally functions as a discovery device” and a party defending a deposition of its own employees or other aligned witnesses has little reason to participate in the process by engaging in cross-examination. (*Id.* at p. 546.) Indeed, the court recognized there are sound reasons *not* to undertake cross-examination during a deposition. (*Ibid.*) Not only would it unduly lengthen depositions (prompting redirect, recross, and so forth), it

also would put counsel defending the witness in the position of prematurely revealing their litigation strategy. “At best, such examination may clarify issues which could later be clarified without prejudice. At worst, it may unnecessarily reveal a weakness in a case or prematurely disclose a defense.” (*Id.* at pp. 546-547.) The court accordingly held that the trial court properly excluded deposition testimony taken in a prior action where there was no evidence suggesting a motive to cross-examine the witnesses at those depositions. (*Id.* at p. 547.)

Wahlgren’s reasoning tracks the legislative history of section 1291, which expressly contemplates that the statute will generally apply when prior *trial* testimony is introduced in place of live testimony in a subsequent proceeding, but not to *deposition* testimony of declarants aligned with the party who is raising the hearsay objection. (Assem. Com. on Judiciary, com., 29B pt. 5 West’s Ann. Evid. Code (2015 ed.) foll. § 1291, p. 87 [noting deposition testimony from a prior case “should be excluded if the judge determines that the deposition was taken for discovery purposes and that the party did not subject the witness to a thorough cross-examination because he sought to avoid a premature revelation of the weakness in the testimony of the witness or in the adverse party’s case”].) The holding is also consistent with the ordinary understanding of the nature of cross-examination and the fact that depositions are generally discovery devices. Unlike direct examination, which is designed to supplement or elaborate on a witness’s recollections and opinions, cross-examination is meant to challenge the witness, such as by

undermining the witness’s credibility or competence. This is not something a lawyer would reasonably do during a deposition of a “friendly” witness. Nor, as a general matter, does the lawyer defending a deposition have any incentive to expand upon the answers provided by the witness; indeed, it would likely violate a lawyer’s duty to their client if they were to examine the witness at the end of a deposition and reveal information that opposing counsel failed to elicit.

Despite the recognized, and logical, reasons why counsel would rarely cross-examine a witness at a deposition, the Court of Appeal here reached the opposite conclusion. The first sentence of the *Berroteran* opinion reads, “This case puts us in the unenviable position of disagreeing with our sister court as to the admissibility under Evidence Code section 1291, subdivision (a)(2) of former testimony.” (Typed opn. 2, fn. omitted.)

The court’s disagreement with *Wahlgren* stemmed from a fundamentally different view about the role depositions play in litigation. The court in *Berroteran* held that *Wahlgren*’s view that depositions are at bottom discovery devices was “outdated given the prevalence of videotaped deposition testimony in modern trial practice.” (Typed opn. 23.) The court noted the theoretical possibility that deposed witnesses may die or for other reasons become unavailable to give live trial testimony *in the same case* for which they were deposed, so counsel defending a witness during an opponent’s examination must be presumed always to have a motive to examine every deposition witness—even one aligned with counsel’s own client—on the assumption that both sides

might need to use the deposition to replace live testimony at the trial in the case for which the witness was deposed. (*Ibid.*; see Code Civ. Proc., § 2025.620, subd. (c)(2)(D) [deposition of unavailable witness admissible at the trial in which the deposition occurred].)

From that premise, the court concluded that depositions from an earlier nation-wide class action against Ford venued in an Illinois district court was admissible as trial testimony in this individual case against Ford, because Ford's class action counsel necessarily had a motive during the precertification stage of the class action to cross-examine its own employees in the event the class action went to trial and the employees became unavailable to Ford to testify live. (Typed opn. 22; see PWM 21.) Given that hypothetical motive, the court held the deposition testimony was admissible in any future case that raises similar issues—including in this California case filed by Raul Berroteran well after the class action was settled. (Typed opn. 25.) In doing so, the court did not defer to the trial court's determination that there was either no similarity of motive *or* similarity of interest in cross-examination between the earlier class action and the instant individual action.

The conflict between *Wahlgren* and *Berroteran* is stark and is a compelling ground for review. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) But it is not the only ground. If *Berroteran's* interpretation of section 1291 is correct, it will fundamentally change the way depositions are conducted in class actions and other cases arising out of facts that can give rise to repeat, similar claims against the same defendant. Depositions are not mini-

trials during which both sides' counsel go back and forth to tease out their entire theory of the case. They are instead a method for the deposing party to learn facts unknown to it—facts that may or may not later be elicited by either side at trial through live testimony and documentary evidence. (*Davies v. Superior Court* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 291, 299 [the Discovery Act was enacted to provide tools “to expedite litigation; . . . to safeguard against surprise; . . . to prevent delay; . . . to simplify and narrow the issues; and, . . . to expedite and facilitate both preparation and trial,” quoting *Greyhound Corp. v. Superior Court* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 355, 376, superseded by statute on another ground as stated in *Coito v. Superior Court* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 480, 491-492]; *Pratt v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 165, 180 [discovery provides a ““simple, convenient, and inexpensive”’ means of revealing the truth and exposing false claims”].) Until now, a lawyer defending—or simply attending—a deposition of a friendly witness has not had to imagine every possible question that *might* arise in a future action against their client and cross-examine that friendly witness “just in case.”

Berroteran will undermine the deposition as a simple and inexpensive discovery device. If hearsay deposition testimony from one case can routinely be introduced as trial testimony in later cases filed by different plaintiffs, defense counsel will be forced to put on their whole case at the discovery stage rather than at trial. And counsel will have to explore not only facts about the particular case at hand, but also those that *might* become relevant in future cases where the deposition may be used against their

client. Doing so may undermine the client's interests in a variety of ways, notwithstanding the *Berroteran* court's belief that counsel have an inherent motive to take these steps. The simple fact that parties more frequently videotape their depositions cannot overcome the fundamental purpose of the hearsay rule: to exclude out-of-court statements that are impossible for the opposing party to *test* with cross-examination.

Wahlgren was correct when it held that depositions are principally discovery devices that will rarely overcome the hearsay bar in section 1291. Allowing hearsay depositions from a prior case to be used in place of live testimony elicited in the later action, or in place of deposition testimony taken in the later action, will fundamentally change the nature of depositions and impose untenable burdens on defendants. This Court should grant review, resolve the conflict created by *Berroteran*, and endorse the interpretation of section 1291 adopted in *Wahlgren*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. Ford is sued in a 2011 class action in Illinois over alleged defects in diesel engines used in various vehicles between 2003 and 2007. After precertification discovery is conducted, the class action is settled.**

In 2010, a class action was filed against Ford in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois that alleged defects in the company's 6.0-liter diesel engine. (Vol. 1, exh. 8, p. 488.) In 2011, in the same district court, the pending class action was merged into a multidistrict nation-wide class action based on the same alleged defects. (*In re Navistar Diesel Engine Products Liability Litigation* (N.D.Ill., July 3, 2013, Case No. 11C2496 [MDL No. 2223]) 2013 WL 10545508 (*In re Navistar*) [nonpub. final order and judgment]; typed opn. 5.) The complaint in the multidistrict litigation alleged "there were defects in the 6.0-liter diesel engine that Ford installed in a range of pickup trucks, sports utility vehicles, vans, and ambulances between 2003 and 2007." (Typed opn. 5-6.) It alleged Ford knew about the problems but failed to disclose them to vehicle purchasers. (Typed opn. 6.) The complaint asserted no common law fraud claims, but asserted causes of action for breach of implied warranty, breach of express warranty, and violation of various state consumer protection laws. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 11.)

During the precertification stage of the class action, plaintiffs' counsel deposed five Ford employees and former

employees in Michigan and Florida about the evolving design of the engine as used in various vehicles: Frank Ligon, Scott Eeley, John Koszewnik, Michael Frommann, and Mark Freeland. (Typed opn. 7; see vol. 1, exh. 9, pp. 792, 1150, 1231, 1827, 2119.) The questions focused principally on the period between 2002 and 2005, but often the questions were vague as to time. (See, e.g., vol. 1, exh. 9, pp. 1874, 1884-1885, 1892, 2171-2172, 2218, 2242.) Ford's class action counsel in attendance did not pose any questions to the witnesses. (PWM 26.)

After the precertification discovery, the parties settled the case in late 2012 or early 2013. (Typed opn. 6; vol. 1, exh. 4, p. 147.)

B. In his individual California action against Ford filed in 2013, Berroteran seeks to rely on video depositions taken during the class action discovery to prove his case. Relying on *Wahlgren*, the trial court excludes the class action deposition testimony as hearsay.

In 2006, Berroteran purchased a new 2006 Ford F-250 truck equipped with a 6.0-liter diesel engine. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 13.) Berroteran alleges that when buying the truck, he relied on Ford's vague representations that the engine was "high-quality," "free from inherent defects," and was "best-in-class." (Typed opn. 4.) He alleges he suffered various breakdowns and had difficulty towing. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 14.) Berroteran took the truck to a Ford authorized repair facility for repairs, but Berroteran claims none

of the repairs was effective. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, pp. 14-15; typed opn. 4.)

In 2013, Berroteran opted out of the *In re Navistar* class settlement so that he could pursue an individual state court action in California. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, pp. 25-26; typed opn. 6.) After driving the truck for more than seven years, he sued Ford. (See vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 27:23-27.) The operative complaint asserts claims for several types of common law fraud, violation of the Consumers Legal Remedies Act (CLRA) (Civ. Code, § 1750 et seq.), and violation of California’s “lemon law”—the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (Civ. Code, § 1790 et seq.). (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 11; typed opn. 4-5.)

During pretrial designations, Berroteran indicated he planned to introduce excerpts from the video depositions of the five Ford employees taken years earlier in the class action discovery. (PWM 24-25, 37.) Berroteran also indicated he planned to introduce deposition testimony from three Ford employees (Scott Clark, Eric Gillanders, and Eric Kalis) taken in lawsuits against Ford by other individual vehicle owners, and the deposition testimony of Bob Fascetti taken in a class action that involved ambulances. (PWM 32-34, 37.)

Ford moved to exclude the deposition testimony on the ground it was inadmissible hearsay that did not fall within any exception to the hearsay rule. (Typed opn. 11.) Berroteran relied on the hearsay exception in section 1291 in arguing that the prior deposition testimony was admissible. Section 1291, subdivision (a)(2) provides that hearsay testimony from one case is admissible

in a later case if the party against whom the testimony is offered “had the right and opportunity to *cross-examine* the declarant [in the earlier proceeding] with an *interest and motive similar to that which he has at the [later] hearing.*” (Emphasis added.) According to Berroteran, Ford had had the same motive and opportunity to “cross-examine” its employees and former employees during the 2011 and 2012 class action depositions in Illinois as Ford would have had if the testimony were elicited in this individual California case.¹

Ford responded that *Wahlgren* was controlling on this issue. *Wahlgren* distinguished former trial testimony from former deposition testimony, holding that a party rarely has a motive to cross-examine its own witnesses at a deposition, so that prior deposition testimony from such witnesses generally is not admissible in later independent proceedings. (*Wahlgren, supra*, 151 Cal.App.3d at pp. 546-547.) *Wahlgren* explained that tactical considerations—for example, not exposing its defenses—fully justify a party’s decision not to question a witness at a discovery deposition. (*Ibid.*) Other reasons to forego cross-examination at a deposition could include an understanding that the case is highly

¹ Berroteran also argued the class action depositions were admissible under Code of Civil Procedure section 2025.620, subdivision (g), which creates an exception to the hearsay rule for depositions taken in a prior action between the same parties that involves the same subject matter. (Vol. 1, exh. 4, p. 150.) Ford disagreed. (Vol. 1, exh. 2, pp. 81-82.) Because it found the depositions admissible under Evidence Code section 1291, the Court of Appeal concluded it did not need to address whether the class action depositions might also be admissible under section 2025.620. (Typed opn. 14-15, fn. 8.)

unlikely to go to trial (as is true in the vast majority of class actions), or that the aligned witness has agreed to be available to testify in person, or that other discovery not yet completed will obviate the need for further examination of the witness. Citing *Wahlgren*, Ford argued Berroteran had not met his burden of proving the hearsay exception applies, noting that Ford “‘clearly did not have a similar interest and motive to examine its employees at those depositions as it will have at trial in this case. Indeed, it is not established that Ford’s counsel undertook any re-direct examination at the depositions.’” (Typed opn. 12.)

Based on *Wahlgren*, the trial court granted Ford’s motion to exclude the deposition testimony. (Typed opn. 15.) Berroteran filed a writ petition seeking reversal of that ruling. (*Ibid.*)

C. The Court of Appeal disagrees with *Wahlgren* and holds that the video depositions are admissible.

The Court of Appeal in *Berroteran* held, in express disagreement with *Wahlgren*, that a party *necessarily* has a motive to conduct cross-examination after opposing counsel has deposed a witness because it *theoretically* might become necessary to use the deposition *in the same case in which the deposition was taken*. (Typed opn. 22.) The court thus lifted the burden from the proponent of the hearsay evidence to demonstrate that the statutory exception to inadmissibility applies, and instead placed the burden on the party objecting to introduction of hearsay deposition testimony to rebut the court’s presumption that there is

a motive to cross-examine aligned witnesses. (Typed opn. 25 [“Ford made no showing that it lacked a similar motive to examine its witnesses during their depositions.”].) And, contrary to *Wahlgren*, the court held that tactical considerations are irrelevant in analyzing whether a defendant had a motive to cross-examine its own witnesses at discovery depositions. (Typed opn. 19.) Under those circumstances, a defendant refrains from cross-examining witnesses at depositions—on both the issues presented in the instant case, and issues that *might* arise in a *future* case—at its peril.

Furthermore, because the Illinois nation-wide class action and prior individual suits raised some issues that overlapped with Berroteran’s case, the Court of Appeal concluded that Ford must have had a sufficiently similar motive in those earlier matters “to *disprove* the allegations of misconduct, and knowledge, all of which centered around the 6.0-liter diesel engine.” (Typed opn. 25, emphasis added.) The court held this was enough to grant to Berroteran the procedural shortcut of not conducting his own discovery, and instead relying on hearsay testimony from depositions conducted in the much earlier Illinois class action and other plaintiffs’ individual actions. (See *ibid.*) The court overlooked the fact that allegations are not proved or disproved in discovery—they are disproved at trial, which is where the motivation to cross-examine comes into play. The Court of Appeal nevertheless held the trial court abused its discretion by granting Ford’s motion to exclude the deposition testimony. (Typed opn. 27.)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. This Court should grant review to resolve the direct conflict between *Wahlgren* and *Berroteran* about the use of prior deposition testimony under Evidence Code section 1291's exception to the hearsay rule.

Hearsay evidence is inadmissible because “an out-of-court statement is not subject to *cross-examination* to test the *declarant's perception, memory and veracity* when the statement was made. Lacking the benefit of cross-examination . . . hearsay evidence is inherently *unreliable* as substantive proof.” (Wegner et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Trials and Evidence (The Rutter Group 2019) ¶ 8:1002, p. 8D-1.)

As the Court of Appeal held in *Target National Bank v. Rocha* (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th Supp. 1, 7, quoting *Buchanan v. Nye* (1954) 128 Cal.App.2d 582, 585, “[t]he essence of the hearsay rule is a requirement that testimonial assertions shall be subjected to the test of cross-examination. [Citation.] The basic theory is that the many possible deficiencies, suppressions, sources of error and untrustworthiness, which lie underneath the bare untested assertion of a witness, may be best brought to light and exposed by the test of cross-examination.’”

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