No. S259522

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RAUL BERROTERAN

Petitioner and Respondent,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY Respondent.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

Real Party in Interest

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Civil No. B296639 Appeal from Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. BC542525 Honorable Gregory Keosian, Judge Presiding

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KNIGHT LAW GROUP, LLP

*Steve B. Mikhov (SBN 224676)
stevem@knightlaw.com
Lauren A. Ungs (SBN 273374)
laurenu@knightlaw.com
10250 Constellation Blvd., Ste 2500
Los Angeles, California 90067
(310) 552-2250 / F: (310) 552-7973

THE ALTMAN LAW GROUP

*Bryan C. Altman (SBN 122976)

INTRODUCTION

There is nothing surprising about the Court of Appeal's well-reasoned opinion in this case ("Opinion"), let alone a reason for this Court to intervene. Yes, the Opinion declines to follow a decision by a sister court, Wahlgren v. Coleco Industries, Inc. (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 543 (Wahlgren). But Wahlgren is an anachronism that is out of step with modern litigation practice and the uniform view of every other jurisdiction with a statute analogous to Evidence Code section 1291, the hearsay exception for former testimony by unavailable witnesses.

Wahlgren has rarely been cited, and for good reason. The case was decided in 1984, back when the videotaping of depositions was rare and the California Legislature had yet to even statutorily authorize videotaped depositions. Wahlgren rests on an outdated, erroneous notion that "a deposition hearing normally functions as a discovery device" only, and therefore no motive ever exists to examine a party's own witnesses at a deposition. (Wahlgren, supra, 151 Cal.App.3d at pp. 546-547.)

While that notion might have been true for the particular deposition testimony at issue in *Wahlgren*, it certainly is not true for *videotaped* depositions that were, on their face, intended to be used as trial testimony—the type of depositions at issue in this

case. The primary purpose of videotaping a deposition is to ensure that the witness's testimony can be *seen* and *heard* by others, namely *by a jury at trial*, in the event that witness is unavailable to personally appear at trial. In fact, the videotaped depositions in this case are replete with references by the questioning attorneys asking the deponents to tell things "to the jury." Videotaped depositions are not mere discovery devices; they also have trial-evidence-preservation purposes. A lawyer who declines to ask questions at a videotaped deposition, despite the right and opportunity to do so, assumes the strategic risk that the witness might be unavailable at trial and the deposition testimony might come in as trial evidence.

Equally important, Wahlgren has always been an unsupported outlier. Even though most, if not all, state and federal jurisdictions in the United States have a hearsay exception for former deposition testimony, no other jurisdiction has adopted Wahlgren's view. And, as the Opinion emphasizes, California courts interpreting California's evidence and civil procedure codes usually look to the law construing analogous federal statutes, and Wahlgren is directly contrary to uniform federal law interpreting Federal Rules of Evidence, rule 804(b)(1), the analogous federal hearsay exception.

Federal courts correctly recognize that "pretrial depositions are not only intended as a means of discovery, but also serve to preserve relevant testimony that might otherwise be unavailable for trial." (Typed opn. 19, citations and bracket omitted.) Thus, the relevant issue for purposes of applying the former-testimony hearsay exception "is not whether the party had a 'tactical or strategic incentive' to question its witnesses" but "whether the party had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony." (Ibid., citations omitted.) In federal cases, "as a general rule, a party's decision to limit crossexamination in a discovery deposition is a strategic choice and does not preclude his adversary's use of the deposition at a subsequent proceeding." (Typed opn. 19-20, quoting Hendrix v. Raybestos-Manhattan, Inc. (11th Cir. 1985) 776 F.2d 1492, 1506, italics added and bracket omitted.)

This is not even a battle between majority and minority views. There is no true minority view here. As the Opinion correctly recognizes, the assumptions underlying *Wahlgren* "are unsupported by legal authority, inconsistent with modern trials and the omnipresence of videotaped depositions during trial, and contrary to persuasive federal law interpreting an analogous hearsay exception." (Typed opn. 3.) This is not a conflict between two well-reasoned lines of authority, both consistent with modern

practice and precedent. Instead, the outdated, thinly-reasoned and rarely-cited *Wahlgren* stands alone.

Although the Opinion may technically "conflict" with Wahlgren, not every conflict rises to the level of warranting this Court's review. To the extent Wahlgren created a risk of confusion, the Opinion eliminates that risk and promotes consistency between the federal and California rules. In the highly unlikely event that a Court of Appeal decides in a future case to follow Wahlgren instead of the Opinion, this Court's review may be warranted at that time. But, unless and until that highly unlikely event occurs, this Court's intervention is unnecessary.

The petition should be denied.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. A class action is brought against Ford, alleging breach of warranty and consumer fraud claims based upon problems with a particular 6.0 liter engine in various Ford vehicles.

In 2010, a class action lawsuit was initiated against Ford Motor Company ("Ford") in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, *Custom Underground, Inc. v.*

Ford Motor Company, on behalf of certain owners, lessees and/or operators of Ford vehicles equipped with an allegedly defective 6.0-liter diesel engine manufactured by Navistar. (Vol. 1, Petitioner's Exhibits ("[vol]PE") 488-509.)

Over a year later, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation created a multidistrict litigation and class action case in that Illinois court, entitled MDL No. 2223, *In re: Navistar 6.0L Diesel Engine Products Liability Litigation* (the Class Action), and transferred to that court for consolidation thirty-nine additional lawsuits from across the country involving similar class or individual claims against Ford, including multiple California class actions. (See 1PE 25-26, 374.)

The plaintiff here, Raul Berroteran, was a putative member of the Class Action because in March 2006 he purchased a 2006 model Ford truck equipped with the defective 6.0-liter engine, and also because he was a putative class member of two California class actions and the *Custom Underground* class action that were consolidated into the multidistrict-litigation Class Action. (See Typed opn. 5; 1PE 12-13, 24-37.)

A Master Class Action Complaint (Class Action Complaint) was filed in the multidistrict-litigation Class Action alleging on behalf of the named plaintiffs and all putative class members

that Ford installed a defectively designed and manufactured 6.0-liter diesel engine in a range of pick-up trucks, sports utility vehicles, vans and ambulances between 2003 and 2007, and that those defects caused poor performance and safety hazards, expensive repairs, and loss of vehicle usage. (Typed opn. 5-6; 1PE 374-509.)

The Class Action Complaint alleged that Ford "knew from the outset that there were severe and pervasive design, manufacturing, and quality issues plaguing the Ford 6.0L Engines," yet "never disclosed any of these issues to consumers" and instead made false representations to consumers about the engine. (Typed opn. 6; 1PE 387-388, 404.) The Class Action Complaint further alleged that Ford breached its warranty obligations, "failed to authorize necessary major engine repairs during the warranty period, instead authorizing only inadequate repairs," and concealed from consumers its inability to repair the engines. (Typed opn. 6; 1PE 395-403.)

The Class Action Complaint asserted a variety of legal claims against Ford based on the engine's defective design, Ford's misleading marketing of the vehicles, and Ford's deficient repair practices, including breach of express and implied warranties and consumer fraud in violation of state consumer protection laws, including California law. (1PE 447-481.) The Class Action

Complaint included specific claims that Ford's conduct toward California consumers (such as plaintiff Berroteran) violated California's Consumers Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code, § 1750 et seq.) (CLRA) and California's Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq.). (Typed opn. 6.) It created a "California Consumer Fraud Sub-Class." (1PE 442).

The Class Action Complaint "sought damages related to the cost to repair or replace the 6.0-liter diesel engine, and to the diminution in value as a result of the alleged defective engine."

(Typed opn. 6.) It also sought punitive damages for Ford's fraudulent misrepresentations and omissions about the engine's quality and inability to be repaired. (1PE 454-456, 458.)

B. During the Class Action discovery, while the plaintiff here (Raul Berroteran) was still a putative class member, videotaped depositions are taken of Ford witnesses with the understanding that the testimony will be used at any class action/multidistrict-litigation trial.

During the Class Action, while Berroteran was a putative class member, the Class Action plaintiffs took the videotaped depositions of key Ford employees who were integrally involved with the development, repair, warranty issues and marketing of the 6.0-liter diesel engine, including Ford's knowledge of the defects and repair problems and Ford's failure to apprise consumers. (Typed opn. 7; see 1PE 792-1045, 1150-1376, 1827-2315.) Berroteran intends to use excerpts from five of those videotaped depositions (the "Class Action depositions") at his trial against Ford in this lawsuit:

- (a) Frank Ligon. During the relevant time period, Ligon worked as Ford's director of service engineering operations.

 (Typed opn. 7.) He "testified about the 6.0-liter engine and testified about e-mails related to the engine" (*ibid.*), including Ford's awareness of problems with the engine and Ford's efforts to conceal the problems (see 1PE 2119-2315).
- (b) Scott Eeley. During the relevant time period, Eeley was Ford's North American Sales Manager. (1PE 808-809.) He testified as to Ford's problems in trying to fix the 6.0-liter engine (Typed opn. 7; 1PE 792-1045), including senior management's comments that the engine was a "crap" product that could not be fixed (1PE 862-865).
- (c) John Koszewnik. During the relevant time period, Koszewnik had multiple supervisory roles, culminating in chief engineer for three engines. (Typed opn. 7; 1PE 1841-1852.) He testified about Ford's knowledge of the engine's problems and the

excessive warranty problems, and Ford's knowledge that certain engine components were going to fail. (Typed opn. 7; 1PE 1827-2117.)

- (d) *Mike Frommann*. During the relevant time period, Frommann was Ford's warranty program manager. (Typed opn. 7; 1PE 1263, 1279.) He testified "about his knowledge of defects in Ford's 6.0-liter diesel engine." (Typed opn. 7.)
- (e) Mark Freeland. During the relevant time period, Freeland "worked in 'engine research." (Typed opn. 7; PE 1156-1158.) He testified about the engine's known problems and how Ford's inadequate attempts to recalibrate the engine adversely impacted engine and vehicle performance. (Typed opn. 8; 1PE 1150-1229.)

All five witnesses appeared at their videotaped depositions as Ford witnesses and were represented by Ford's attorneys.

(Typed opn. 7.) Ford had the unrestricted opportunity to prepare and coach each witness before the deposition, and to examine each witness at the deposition. (Typed opn. 25, fn. 11; 1PE 796, 799-802, 1163, 1236, 1248-1249, 1836-1837, 2134-2135.) Ford chose not to examine them. (*Ibid.*) At the time of their depositions, three of these witnesses—Ligon, Freeland, and Koszewnik—had retired from Ford (Typed opn. 7), meaning that

Ford itself could not be sure it could get those witnesses to attend any future trial.

The contemporaneous comments of counsel at the depositions make it clear that everyone knew the videotaped depositions were being taken with the understanding that they would be used as evidence at any Class Action or multi-district litigation trial. (See, e.g., 1PE 1277 [Frommann deposition: "Q. What causes cylinder pressure? I know that's a simple question, but the jury that's going to be hearing this might not know much about engines, so can you explain in general terms what causes pressure to build up in a cylinder in a diesel engine?" (italics added)], 1299-1300 [Frommann deposition: "Q. Okay. And just to be clear, I think I know what you mean, but to be clear for the judge and the jury, a service part means a -- a part used when someone brings their vehicle in for repair, it's a part that the dealership would use to replace a bad part, right?" (italics added)], 1169 [Freeland deposition: "A. I'm not entirely sure what you're asking. Are you asking me just to tell you the whole story of everything I ever did? Q. No, sir, that's why I said the big picture overview; sort of, I started, I did some initial work, I had formulated a hypothesis. I'm sort of asking for a brief overview. Maybe that's a better way to put it, a brief over -- please give the ladies and gentlemen of the jury a brief overview of this project

from your standpoint, from your perspective." (italics added)], 1174 [Freeland deposition: "Q. Now, you make the statement -- well, and for the ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the codes that you refer to, DO2, DO3 and D21, you also reference D42 and D50, et cetera, where do these codes come from? A. From the warranty -- AWS system." (italics added)].)

C. Berroteran opts out of the Class Action at the settlement stage, and then individually sues
 Ford in this lawsuit for the same claims.

In November 2012, after the Class Action depositions were taken, Ford stipulated to class certification and agreed to a settlement; the court approved the settlement and certified the class. (Typed opn. 6.)

Berroteran, the plaintiff in this lawsuit, opted out of the Class Action at the settlement stage. (1PE 25-26.) Shortly thereafter, he brought this individual action against Ford, modeling the facts and claims in his complaint on the facts and claims alleged in the Class Action Complaint, discussed above in Section A. (See Typed opn. 3-5; compare 1PE 11-75 with 1PE 374-509, 3PE 2766-2906 & MJN 30-175.)

Berroteran's complaint alleges "causes of action for multiple counts of fraud, negligent misrepresentation, violation of

the Consumers Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code, §1750 et seq.), and violation of the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (id., § 1790 et seq.)." (Typed opn. 3.) The complaint alleges that Berroteran purchased a Ford truck in 2006 with "a defective 6.0-liter diesel engine," relying "on Ford's representations that the engine was reliable and offered superior power." (Typed opn. 4.) It also alleges that the truck "experienced numerous breakdowns" and that Ford's attempts to repair the engine "did not remedy the problems despite Ford's representations that it had fixed the engine," and it "described Ford's purported deceptive repair history regarding his and other consumers' 6.0-liter Navistar diesel engines. . . . " (Typed opn. 4.)

D. The Class Action depositions are used against

Ford as evidence at trials adjudicating claims

by opt-out plaintiffs alleging the same claims as

the Class Action and Berroteran.

Because of the settlement, the multidistrict-litigation Class Action never went to trial. Nonetheless, the videotaped Class Action depositions have been admitted as evidence *at the trials* of other lawsuits brought by putative members of the Class Action who opted out at the settlement/certification stage, exactly as Berroteran did, and then sued Ford individually for facts and

claims modeled on the Class Action Complaint, exactly as
Berroteran did (the "opt-out lawsuits"). As the Opinion explains,

"[t]he [Class Action] deposition testimony Berroteran seeks to
introduce was admitted in four lawsuits by other putative
plaintiffs who also had opted out of the settlement in the
multidistrict litigation." (Typed opn. 6-7.) "It is undisputed that
the depositions have been admitted at trial in multiple cases, and
thus did not serve only discovery purposes." (Typed opn. 27.)

E. Key Ford witnesses, including designated

"persons most knowledgeable," are deposed for
trial-evidence-preservation purposes in other
lawsuits alleging the same claims as
Berroteran.

In addition to the Class Action depositions, videotaped depositions of key Ford witnesses have been taken in opt-out lawsuits alleging the same claims against Ford as the Class Action and Berroteran's lawsuit. Berroteran intends to use excerpts from four of those depositions (the "opt-out depositions") at his trial against Ford in this lawsuit:

(a) Scott Clark. Clark's videotaped deposition was taken in an opt-out lawsuit entitled Preston v. Ford Motor Company (Preston) that alleged the same claims against Ford as

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